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Introduction

This annual report summarizes the
activities and accomplishments of the
Department of Energy (DOE) Price-
Anderson Amendments Act (PAAA)
Enforcement Program in calendar year
1999 and highlights improvements
planned for 2000.1  Appendix A of this
report provides an overview of the
Enforcement Program for those who are
not familiar with the overall process.

The DOE Office of Environment, Safety
and Health’s (EH) Office of Enforcement
and Investigation (EH-Enforcement)
implements the DOE Enforcement Program
and receives input from coordinators and
technical advisors in the Department’s
Field and Program Offices.  Figure 1-1
provides a summary of the Department’s
1999 enforcement activities.

DOE enforces two substantive nuclear
safety rules, Quality Assurance (10 CFR
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830.120) and Occupational Radiation
Protection (10 CFR 835).  Other require-
ments, such as the Information Require-
ments provision in 10 CFR 820.11, may be
enforced under the PAAA.  DOE may also
take enforcement action under 10 CFR 708
against contractors that retaliate against
employees for raising nuclear safety
concerns.

The DOE Enforcement Program issued ten
Notices of Violation (NOV) to DOE
contractors in this reporting period.  All
ten NOVs cited significant violations, and
seven of them imposed civil penalties that
totaled $1,072,500.2  During 1999, 229
potential nuclear safety noncompliances
were reported into the Noncompliance
Tracking System (NTS) for review by EH-
Enforcement.  EH-Enforcement reviewed
617 additional issues that had not been
reported into the NTS for potential Price-
Anderson applicability.  Figure 1-2
summarizes this information and informa-
tion on reviews from prior years.  The civil

penalties imposed on contractors by the
Department for violations are shown in
Figure 1-3.

Significant
Enforcement Actions

Significant enforcement actions during
1999 include the following.

❏ DOE issued a Compliance Order in
addition to an NOV with a civil penalty,
to Fluor Daniel Hanford Inc. (FDH), the
managing contractor of the Hanford
site in Washington State.  The magni-
tude of recurring nuclear safety
problems, coupled with repeated and
long-standing failures to comply with
quality assurance regulatory require-
ments by contractors working at the
Hanford Spent Nuclear Fuel Project,
led the Secretary of Energy to issue the
first Compliance Order under the
PAAA.  This Compliance Order

1 The Price-Anderson Amendments Act of 1988 (P.L.) No. 100-408 requires DOE to enforce compliance with its nuclear safety
requirements.

2 Of the $962,500 total civil penalties, $220,000 were waived due to the statutory exemption for specific not for profit contractors.

Figure 1-1
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directed FDH to make improvements
and correct the problems by specific
dates. The Hanford Spent Nuclear Fuel
Project involves stabilizing and moving
spent nuclear fuel from an aging facility
to newer storage facilities.  DOE issued
the NOV and Compliance Order after
investigators found that contractors
working on the project repeatedly
failed to follow procedures designed
to protect workers and members of the
public from potential radiological
harm.  On December 9, 1999, the
Secretary determined that FDH
successfully implemented the terms of
the Compliance Order and on
December 13, 1999, he terminated the
Compliance Order.
Civil Penalty: $330,000

❏ DOE issued NOVs, with civil penalties,
to the operators of the Idaho National
Engineering and Environmental
Laboratory (INEEL) in Idaho and the
Rocky Flats Environmental Technology
Site (RFETS) in Colorado.  The NOVs
were issued for poor quality control in
the procurement of nuclear waste
containers purchased from a subcon-
tractor and for related quality control
violations.  Lockheed Martin Idaho
Technologies Company (LMITCO), the
operating contractor at INEEL, pur-
chased 556 of these nuclear waste
containers, all of which were deter-
mined to be defective.  Kaiser-Hill
Company (KHLL), operator at RFETS,
purchased 69 of the containers and all
of these were defective as well.
Contractors at both sites filled some of
the containers with nuclear waste
before it was determined that they
failed to meet procurement specifica-
tions.  The contractors failed to assure
that a qualified contractor would
perform fabrication.  Additionally, the
contractors failed to implement an
adequate inspection and acceptance
program for these items or failed to
properly control nonconforming items.
Civil Penalty to LMITCO:  $220,000
Civil Penalty to KHLL:  $82,500
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❏ DOE issued an NOV, with a civil
penalty, to the Los Alamos National
Laboratory (LANL) in New Mexico
for continuing failures to conduct
work according to the Laboratory’s
established nuclear safety proce-
dures.  In one case these failures
caused a worker at the laboratory to
receive an unplanned and uncon-
trolled radiological exposure.   In
another case, these failures led to a
work area being contaminated with
radioactive material.
Civil Penalty:  $220,000
(waived due to statutory exemp-
tion)

❏ DOE issued an NOV, with a civil
penalty, to the Mason & Hanger
Corporation, operator of the Pantex
Plant in Amarillo, Texas, for viola-
tions associated with a fire in a
nuclear weapons disassembly
facility.  DOE investigators deter-
mined that the fire directly resulted
from the failure of Mason & Hanger
to establish and implement proper
work controls that would have
prevented a fire.
Civil Penalty:  $82,500

Enforcement Letters

DOE issued five Enforcement Letters to
contractors in 1999.  Enforcement
Letters communicate a particular
positive message or concern to a
contractor and may require that the
contractor implement and report
corrective actions.  EH-Enforcement
evaluated additional cases for potential
enforcement action and determined
that enforcement action was not
warranted in these cases based on
contractor initiative in identifying,
reporting, and correcting the
noncompliances.  DOE also conducted
seven Price-Anderson screening and
reporting program reviews to review
the contractor’s processes for identify-
ing, screening, and reporting potential
violations of nuclear safety rules and for
managing corrective actions for the
noncompliances identified.

Figure 1-2

Figure 1-3
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Compliance Order And Fine
for Quality Assurance
Breakdowns At Hanford

The Secretary of Energy issued the
Department of Energy’s (DOE) first
Compliance Order on May 26, 1999, to
Fluor Daniel Hanford (FDH), the integrating
contractor at the Hanford, Washington,
site.  The Compliance Order directed FDH
to make specific improvements and
corrections to quality assurance break-
downs within a schedule described in the
Compliance Order.  DOE also issued a
Notice of Violation (NOV) to the contrac-
tor and imposed a civil penalty of
$330,000, the largest fine issued to date
under DOE’s Price-Anderson Amendments
Act (PAAA) Enforcement Program.1  The
Compliance Order resulted from long-
standing and recurring failures of FDH to
meet quality assurance requirements.

Events leading to the Compliance Order
and NOV included a joint investigation
conducted in April through August 1998
by the Office of Enforcement and
Investigation (EH-Enforcement) and the
DOE Richland Field Office, and an
October 22, 1998, Enforcement Confer-
ence, chaired by the Director of EH-
Enforcement, to discuss the violations
with the contractor. The majority of quality
problems investigated by DOE occurred
at the Spent Nuclear Fuels Project (SNFP).
This project was assigned a high priority
and was undertaken to prevent potential
contamination of the Columbia River 
from leaking [    ]  pools at the K-Basins
facility.  Duke Engineering and Services
Hanford was the subcontractor
primarily responsible for the SNFP.

At the Enforcement Conference, FDH
acknowledged the problems raised by
DOE and acknowledged that the prob-
lems were widespread beyond the SNFP
and K-Basins.  DOE decided that, in lieu of

  2. SIGNIFICANT ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS

immediate enforcement action, it would
give FDH 120 days to demonstrate
substantial progress to correct the long-
standing problems.  DOE exercised this
discretion based in part on FDH making
key management changes and on FDH
commitments to undertake a comprehen-
sive quality assurance improvement
program with compensatory interim
actions.  DOE cautioned FDH that the
Department would consider escalated
enforcement action if the problems were
not corrected and if the actions commit-
ted to were not completed.

In April 1999, DOE conducted a supple-
mental investigation to evaluate the
contractor’s progress.  DOE concluded
the following: (1) FDH had not taken
several actions to which they had
committed in the improvement program;
and (2) FDH had not demonstrated
adequate progress in implementing many
other commitments made to DOE.  DOE
also found that, despite actions taken, the
problems that were the basis for the
Enforcement Conference continued to
occur.  To compound the problems, DOE
determined that information FDH provided
regarding a separate investigation was not
accurate and complete, which indepen-
dently constituted a violation of 10 CFR
820.11 (Information Requirements).

On May 26, 1999, DOE issued an NOV
that included a civil penalty of $330,000.
The NOV cited the quality assurance
violations and the accuracy of information
violation.  Additionally, because of the
contractor’s poor track record in following
through on commitments, DOE concluded
it did not have confidence that an NOV
and civil penalty would be sufficient to
ensure that the nuclear safety rule
violations would be corrected.  Accord-
ingly, the Secretary of Energy took the
additional step of issuing a Compliance
Order.  Under the Compliance Order, each

failure to fulfill a commitment by the
contractor would have constituted a
separate violation of the PAAA.

DOE determined that mitigation was not
warranted for any of the violations
described in the NOV because (1) the
violations were identified from self-
disclosing events or were identified by
the DOE Field Office and (2) the correc-
tive action process was not timely or
adequate.  FDH did not contest the NOV
and paid the full civil penalty.

The Compliance Order that DOE issued to
FDH on May 26, 1999, remained in effect
until December 13, 1999, when the
Secretary of Energy concluded that DOE
was satisfied that all terms of the Compli-
ance Order had been met.  DOE contin-
ues to monitor contractor performance in
this area.

Procurement Issues at Idaho,
Rocky Flats, and Hanford

In 1999, EH-Enforcement focused
considerable effort on increasing aware-
ness in the DOE complex of quality
assurance breakdowns in the procurement
and receipt inspection processes.  EH-
Enforcement became concerned about
deficiencies in this area and in related
areas of design control, work processes,
and quality improvement after it learned
that a large number of nuclear waste
containers fabricated by a vendor and
supplied to two DOE contractors had
structural problems, including bad welds.
These defects were not discovered until
some of the containers were filled with
nuclear waste.  Further assessments by EH-
Enforcement identified recurring prob-
lems in the DOE complex with procure-
ment of items and services that are
important to safety.  DOE investigations
led to the issuance of NOVs and civil

1 EA-1999-04
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penalties to three contractors.  Investiga-
tions into the activities of other contractors
continue.

On August 18, 1999, DOE issued NOVs to
Lockheed Martin Idaho Technologies
Company (LMITCO), operator of the Idaho
National Engineering and Environmental
Laboratory in Idaho, and the Kaiser Hill
Company L.L.C. (KHLL), operator of the
Rocky Flats Environmental Technology Site
in Colorado.  DOE cited both contractors
with violations pertaining to their procure-
ment of items important to safety and with
other violations of quality assurance
requirements.2

DOE conducted investigations into
activities at LMITCO and determined that a
number of violations occurred between
1995 and 1998 relating to quality assur-
ance.  In the case for which the company
was cited, LMITCO purchased 556
standard waste boxes to use for the
interim storage of  [   ] radioactive
waste and for the eventual shipment to
and long-term storage of the nuclear
waste at the Waste Isolation Pilot Plant in
Carlsbad, New Mexico.  LMITCO discov-
ered structural integrity problems with the
boxes (e.g., poor welds) only after
contractor personnel filled 29 of the
boxes with waste.  LMITCO subsequently
determined that all 556 boxes were
inadequate for use.  None of the boxes
was shipped offsite.

In a related case, LMITCO contracted with
another vendor to fabricate 48 nuclear fuel
storage buckets to use in the movement and
handling of [radioactive material].  During
vendor fabrication of the buckets, LMITCO
learned that the vendor did not have an
adequate quality assurance program and
removed the vendor from the approved
supplier list for future procurements.
However, LMITCO continued to permit
the vendor to fabricate the buckets and
subsequently accepted the buckets from
the vendor.  LMITCO eventually inspected
the [   ] buckets and determined that 41

of 48 buckets had welds that failed to
meet design specification.

DOE imposed a civil penalty of  $220,000
against LMITCO.  DOE determined that
mitigation was not warranted because
LMITCO received prior notice on several
occasions from the DOE Field Office on
weaknesses in the company’s quality
improvement processes.  LMITCO paid the
full civil penalty for the violations related
to procurement and design.

Similarly, DOE investigated KHLL procure-
ment activities at Rocky Flats.  KHLL
purchased 69 nuclear waste containers
from the same vendor as LMITCO.  The
boxes were to be used to store nuclear
waste until it could be shipped to the
Waste Isolation Pilot Plant.  KHLL filled nine
of the boxes with nuclear waste before
discovering that they were defective.
KHLL determined that none of the 69

boxes was usable for their intended
purpose.  As in the LMITCO case, none of
the boxes left the site.

DOE issued a civil penalty against KHLL for
$82,500.  DOE mitigated a portion of the
potential penalty in recognition of a KHLL
initiative to identify quality problems in
other purchases after identifying the
nuclear waste container problems.  KHLL
accepted the NOV and paid the full civil
penalty.

The figures below show the Standard
Waste Box (SWB) and illustrate some of
the defects in these boxes.  Figure 2-1
shows a person standing beside an SWB,
which demonstrates the size of the waste
container.  Figure 2-2 is a close-up view of
a SWB lid-to-container gasket damaged
during shipment from the manufacturer to
Rocky Flats.  Figure 2-3 is a close-up view
of an SWB exterior weld.  This weld has

Significant Enforcement Actions

2 EA-1999-06 issued to KHLL, EA-1999-07 issued to LMITCO.

 Figure 2-1

Note: Shows a 5’ 2 1/2” person for waste container size comparision.
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lack of penetration, cracks, and weld
spatter.  The subcontractor attempted,
unsuccessfully, to paint over these
defects.  An attempt to paint over these
defects was unsuccessful.  Rust is also
visible on painted over weld spatter areas
near the weld.

In a case involving procurement issues
with another DOE contractor, DOE cited
FDH on May 26, 1999, for violations of the
design, procurement, work process, and
quality improvement provisions of the
Quality Assurance Rule at the DOE
Hanford site.  DOE found in one instance
that FDH allowed a subcontractor that did
not have an approved quality assurance
program to provide nuclear facility design
work.  In another instance, a subcontractor
fabricating nuclear facility components
did not have an acceptable quality
program, but was allowed to continue
work for almost a year before the prob-
lems were corrected.  DOE fined FDH
$110,000 for these violations.  FDH
accepted the NOV and paid the civil
penalty.3

Fire at Pantex

On December 29, 1998, at the Pantex
Plant, an isopropyl alcohol fire occurred
in [a building] during cleaning 
operations on a weapon component.
Inadequate controls to mitigate the fire
hazard posed by the isopropyl alcohol
were determined to be the root cause of
the event.  However, the failure to adhere
to existing procedural controls was a
significant contributing cause as well.

EH-Enforcement began a PAAA Program
Review at the Pantex facility to evaluate the
Mason & Hanger Corporation (MHC)
program for proactively identifying PAAA
noncompliances, reporting appropriate
noncompliances to DOE, and comprehen-
sively correcting problems associated
with noncompliance conditions.  While
performing the review, EH-Enforcement
personnel became aware that the fire in

Significant Enforcement Actions

3 Reference the narrative under “Compliance Order and Fine for QA Breakdowns at Hanford” for additional information pertaining to the violations
cited in EH-1999-04.

 Figure 2-2

 Figure 2-3
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[the building] was in fact a significant
event.  EH-Enforcement reviewed the
circumstances and potential conse-
quences of the fire during a site visit on
February 24 and 25, 1999, and issued an
Investigation Summary Report.

Subsequent to an Enforcement Confer-
ence, DOE concluded that violations of
the Quality Assurance Rule (10 CFR
830.120) occurred.  On July 30, 1999,
DOE issued an NOV to MHC and imposed
a civil penalty of $82,500.  The NOV
described inadequacies in the work
controls and the failure to comply with
existing procedures as matters that
contributed to the fire event.  The hazard
posed by isopropyl alcohol was identi-
fied in the facility fire hazards analysis
issued in 1996, based on a previous
alcohol fire that had occurred at the
Pantex Plant.  However, the contractor had
not adequately implemented actions to
either eliminate the hazard by substituting
an alternative cleaning agent or mitigate
the potential for a fire through explicit
administrative and procedural controls.
No procedural controls were established
that would either minimize the amount of
alcohol used or ensure adequate ventila-
tion to preclude the accumulation of
concentrated vapors, nor were controls
established to preclude electrostatic
discharge as an ignition source.

DOE issued an NOV as two Severity Level
II violations, with a proposed civil penalty
of $82,500.  In determining the severity
level of these violations, DOE considered
the multiple violations involved and the
potential consequences of a fire in [a cell].
After considering the escalation and
mitigation factors set forth in the Enforce-
ment Policy, the proposed civil penalty for
each violation was reduced by 25 percent
to $41,250.  In reducing the civil penalty,
DOE recognized the aggressive investiga-
tive actions undertaken by MHC in
uncovering the violations related to this
event and the causes of the event.  DOE
concluded that further mitigation for these
violations was not appropriate because
(1) the event was self-disclosing and the
underlying problem was not identified by
MHC before the event and (2) the

corrective action plan initially proposed
by MHC did not address the broader
implications of the problems disclosed by
this event, requiring DOE input to
sufficiently address these areas.

DOE was also concerned with this event
because the hazard was identified
through a previous operational event at
the Pantex Plant.  Although DOE and MHC
previously held discussions on an
alternative cleaning agent, MHC manage-
ment failed to proactively resolve the
issue or implement adequate controls to
prevent or mitigate the consequences of a
fire.  DOE’s expectation, as reflected in its
nuclear safety regulations and the
Enforcement Policy, is for its contractors to
take ownership of safety in their activities
and identify and correct safety weak-
nesses.

MHC paid the civil penalty in full but
requested that DOE reconsider the
severity level of the violations associated
with this event maintaining that the
potential consequences of the event were
modest.  DOE considered these argu-
ments but concluded that its original
findings appropriately considered both
the probability and potential conse-
quences of the event.  Thus, on October
8, 1999, DOE closed this matter through
issuance of a Final Notice of Violation,
denying the request from M&H to reduce
the severity level.

Unplanned Exposure and
Uptake at CMR, Los Alamos

On September 3, 1999, DOE issued an
NOV to Los Alamos National Laboratory
(LANL) for work control and radiological
monitoring deficiencies.  The violations
led to a worker receiving an unplanned,
uncontrolled radiological exposure and
intake of [a radioactive material] in
November 1998 at the Chemistry and
Metallurgy Research (CMR) facility.

DOE concluded that violations of 10 CFR
830.120 (Quality Assurance Rule) and of
10 CFR 835 (Occupational Radiation
Protection Rule) occurred.  The violations

involved multiple failures to (1) conduct
approved work activities in accordance
with established LANL procedures and
work controls, (2) adequately monitor for
radioactive material, (3) post and control
access to radiological areas, and (4)
implement effective corrective actions.
The failure to comply with LANL work
control procedures and the failure to stop
work when conditions were outside the
work controls were similar to CMR work
control problems that led to the Septem-
ber 1997 stand-down of all normal
operations within CMR. After the Septem-
ber 1997 stand-down, the CMR manage-
ment goal for restart of normal operations
included ensuring that (1) CMR activities
were properly authorized and imple-
mented using an appropriate work control
process and (2) the workforce understood
and adhered to the work control require-
ments.  CMR recovery and restart for this
previous stand-down were achieved on
April 17, 1998.

CMR experienced another event on 
June 25, 1999, when a glovebox
overpressurization led to a glove
rupture and extensive radioactive [   ]
contamination throughout the affected
room.  Fortuitously, CMR workers were not
in the room at the time of the glove
rupture; therefore, they were not exposed
to the radioactive material.  The LANL
analysis of this event identified a break-
down in the “programmatic work pro-
cess,” including “a lack of formal docu-
mentation and failure to follow estab-
lished and approved work processes at
the CMR facility.”  DOE was particularly
concerned that LANL had not imple-
mented effective corrective actions for
these recurring, similar problems.

DOE classified several violations sepa-
rately as Severity Level II problems.  These
violations involved (1) work process
problems, (2) inadequate instrumentation
and monitoring of work areas for radiation,
(3) inadequate radiological postings and
access control for radiological areas, and
(4) inadequate processes to prevent
recurrence of quality problems.  In
determining the severity level of these
violations, DOE grouped the various

Significant Enforcement Actions
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examples of problems in each of these
areas collectively and considered their
programmatic and recurring nature,
resulting in four Severity Level II citations.

LANL is exempt from civil penalty by
statute.  However, because of the safety
significance of these violations, DOE
noted that it would have proposed a civil
penalty of $220,000 ($55,000 for each
Severity Level II violation) if LANL were not
exempted.  DOE concluded that no
mitigation was warranted for self-
identification, timely reporting, or
implementation of effective corrective
actions to prevent recurrence of the
violations.  Specifically, LANL failed to
identify the recurring programmatic nature
of these violations and report them into
the EH-Enforcement Noncompliance
Tracking System (NTS) in a timely manner.
The November 1998 CMR work control
event involved multiple recurring failures
to effectively plan, authorize, implement,
and control work activities, and the event
was not reported into the NTS until
months after EH-Enforcement initiated an
investigation.  LANL originally placed the
noncompliances associated with this
event into the local tracking system as a
non-NTS reportable item.  Additionally,
LANL’s corrective actions to authorize and
control work activities implemented as a
result of CMR’s work stand-down were
not adequate to prevent recurrence of
similar deficiencies as evidenced by
the November 1998 [   ] and the
June 1999 [radioactive] contamination
events.

The NOV required LANL to submit its
corrective actions to preclude recurrence
of the problems that led to this event and
to enter those actions and target comple-
tion dates into the NTS to track comple-
tion and closure.

Control of Radiological
Material Weaknesses at Sandia

On May 21, 1999, DOE issued an NOV to
Sandia National Laboratories (SNL) for two
Severity Level III problems.  The DOE
evaluation identified two recurring

Significant Enforcement Actions

programmatic concerns.  These concerns
included repetitive, long-term problems
with failure to control radioactive material
and with failure to properly document,
use, and implement technical work
documents; specifically, radiological work
permits.

Between March 9 and March 11, 1999,
EH-Enforcement performed an onsite
review of the SNL PAAA program for
screening, tracking, and reporting
noncompliances with the nuclear safety
rules.  A separate program review letter
was issued to address the observations
and concerns regarding the program that
were identified during the review.  In the
process of performing this evaluation, EH-
Enforcement reviewed PAAA
noncompliances reported in the SNL self-
tracking system and actions taken by SNL
to correct the noncompliances.  DOE
found that multiple radiation protection
violations had occurred and that the
contractor had not recognized these as
representing a programmatic problem.

The first problem described in the NOV
involved a series of events with inad-
equate identification and control of
radioactive materials.  Specifically, events
occurred that included instances of (1)
radioactive material being released from a
controlled area and sent to an uncon-
trolled area without adequately determin-
ing contamination levels, (2) radioactive
material or containers labeled as “radioac-
tive” discovered in uncontrolled areas,
and (3) the unplanned and initially
unknown spread of contamination outside
of radiological areas.

The second problem described in the
NOV involved recurring issues with the
use of and compliance with radiological
work permits (RWP) during 1997 and 1998.
Several occurrences were cited in the
NOV, including the use of RWPs with
incomplete approvals or documentation;
continued use of expired RWPs; and
failure to comply with work control
requirements in the implementation of
RWPs.  Additionally, EH-Enforcement
noted similar findings in an audit con-
ducted between February 5-19, 1999, by

the DOE-Kirtland Area Office and DOE-
Albuquerque Operations Office.  Thus,
the problems with use of and compliance
with RWPs were not addressed by the
contractor for months after they were
identified and brought to the attention of
the contractor.

DOE determined that mitigation was not
warranted since the contractor had prior
notice of the problems and failed to
implement programmatic comprehensive
solutions to those problems.  DOE had
issued an enforcement action (EA-1997-
07) to SNL in August 1997, which
included a Severity Level III violation for
failure to control and properly label
radioactive material and a Severity Level II
violation for deficiencies in the use of
Technical Work Documents, including
RWPs.  Corrective actions associated with
these violations were reported to DOE as
completed in May 1997.  DOE was
concerned that corrective actions for EA-
1997-07 were not sufficient to prevent
recurrence of these similar areas of
noncompliance.  DOE also considered the
inadequate analysis by SNL to identify
recurring, programmatic issues and the
lack of reporting these issues into the NTS.
Had SNL identified the programmatic
problem involved, conducted a critical
analysis of the problem, reported it into
the NTS, and initiated comprehensive
corrective actions, this enforcement action
would likely not have been taken.

In determining the severity level of these
violations, DOE grouped the various
examples of problems in each of the two
areas collectively and considered their
programmatic and recurring nature.  When
evaluated independently, each occur-
rence represented a low level of safety
significance; however, collectively the
occurrences indicated recurring problems
in the implementation of SNL Radiation
Protection Program requirements.  DOE
required SNL to report and track closure
of its corrective actions for this enforce-
ment action in the NTS.
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Introduction

The Department of Energy (DOE) has the
discretion to defer enforcement action
under certain circumstances.  DOE’s use of
this discretion serves as an incentive to
contractor participation in the desired
safety management culture.  In 1999, DOE
chose to exercise this discretion in a
number of instances.  In many cases, the
Department deferred enforcement action
because the contractor took the initiative
in identifying and reporting
noncompliances and in implementing
comprehensive corrective actions.  In
other cases the Department took no action
because of the relatively low safety
significance of the noncompliance.  The
following cases are examples of instances
in which DOE chose to defer enforcement
action.  In each case, because the
problem was sufficiently important or had
the potential to result in a more serious
condition, DOE issued Enforcement
Letters to the contractor.  These letters
transmitted the Department’s view of the
seriousness of the problem and empha-
sized that DOE expected the causes to be
corrected to preclude recurrence.

Brookhaven Radiation
Therapy Facility Radiation
Area Controls

Brookhaven Science Associates (BSA)
contracted with Stony Brook University
Hospital (SBUH) to operate the Radiation
Therapy Facility (RTF) located at
Brookhaven National Laboratory (BNL).
DOE evaluated the facts and circum-
stances concerning an event that occurred
at RTF on March 16, 1998.  The event
involved (1) failure of one of the two
microswitches that serve as a redundant
interlock for the door to the linear electron
accelerator and (2) improper conduct of
operations action following identification
of the failure.

  3. DEFERRED ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS

The RTF is a high radiation area during
patient treatment sessions, and opera-
tional redundant interlocks are required
to minimize the possibility of unplanned
radiation exposure to facility personnel.
When RTF personnel discovered that one
of the microswitches had failed, SBUH
personnel called a service representative.
Subsequently, the RTF attending physician
(an SBUH employee) exceeded the
scope of his authority and authorized
the service representative to bypass the
malfunctioning microswitch [    ] to
allow continued operation of the
accelerator. Furthermore, SBUH personnel
did not provide timely notification of
either the failure of the microswitch or its
subsequent bypass to BSA.  In fact, BSA
did not become aware of the event until
March 18, 1998, two days later.

Based on its evaluation of this incident,
DOE concluded that the entry control
requirements of 10 CFR 835 (Occupational
Radiation Protection Rule) were violated at
RTF.  In the Enforcement Letter, DOE
indicated that the actual safety signifi-
cance of the violations was low because
one interlock on the door to the linear
electron accelerator room still functioned.
However, the letter also stated that the
lack of effective communication between
SBUH and BSA regarding the regulatory
obligations of SBUH when conducting
radiological activities was a concern.  DOE
informed SBUH that the Department could
issue an enforcement action against them
under the evaluation criteria described in
the DOE Enforcement Policy (10 CFR 820,
Appendix A).

A decision was made to defer enforce-
ment action against SBUH in this case
because DOE believed that it was more
appropriate to hold the primary contractor
accountable for ensuring that subcontrac-
tors perform activities in accordance with
established requirements.

Argonne National
Laboratory – West,
Quality Improvement
Breakdowns

In September 1999, EH-Enforcement
conducted a review of Argonne National
Laboratory – West (ANL-W) PAAA program
activities.  The review focused primarily on
the ANL –W process for screening
noncompliances for applicability under
the Price-Anderson Amendments Act
(PAAA) and reporting and tracking these
items in either the NTS or internal tracking
processes, as appropriate.

In conducting the PAAA program review,
EH-Enforcement found weaknesses in the
contractor’s implementation of the Quality
Improvement provisions of 10 CFR
830.120.  These weaknesses represented
noncompliances with the provisions of
the Quality Assurance Rule, including (1)
lack of formal processes for the resolution
of all identified safety related problems,
(2) lack of formal cause determinations for
significant safety-related quality problems,
and (3) lack of effective corrective actions
to prevent recurrence of such problems.
Additionally, EH-Enforcement noted
weaknesses with the lack of processes to
identify common problems or trends
across the multiple databases used and
with the timeliness of corrective actions.

ANL-W uses multiple processes for the
tracking and disposition of safety-related
quality problems.  Most of these pro-
cesses are not formally controlled by a
procedure for quality problem resolution,
making their use, in effect, optional.  Site
processes have not required broad
reviews across all quality problem
processes to evaluate potential trends or
recurring conditions, and unlike other sites
in the DOE complex, ANL-W procedures
require formal cause determinations only
for unusual or emergency events reported
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to the Occurrence Reporting and Process-
ing System (ORPS).  Consequently, formal
cause determinations are not routinely
performed for any significant ANL-W
deficiency that did not originate as an
event.  EH-Enforcement also found that
corrective action completion dates were
routinely being missed without justifica-
tion.  These weaknesses collectively
indicated a lack of management emphasis
on nuclear safety and importance on the

Deferred Enforcement Actions

identification and correction of quality
problems.

DOE issued a letter to ANL-W on Novem-
ber 15, 1999.  This letter addressed the
findings of the PAAA Program Review
concerning the Quality Improvement
noncompliances.  The noncompliances in
this area were not associated with any
severe or potentially serious event; thus,
DOE chose not to take enforcement

action.  However, DOE expects correction
of these noncompliances and weaknesses
in a timely manner, and used the Enforce-
ment Letter to notify the contractor of this
expectation.  The Enforcement Letter
stated that failure to effectively implement
the Quality Improvement requirements of
10 CFR 830.120 could result in a future
enforcement action, if problems in the
identified areas continue to occur.
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Program Activity

Government Accounting
Office Report
Between November 1998 and May 1999,
the General Accounting Office (GAO)
performed a review of the Department of
Energy (DOE) Enforcement Program to
determine, among other things, how the
Department has enforced nuclear safety
rules.  In June 1999, GAO issued DOE’s
Nuclear Safety Enforcement Program
Should Be Strengthened, documenting
GAO’s conclusions and recommendations
regarding the DOE Enforcement Program.

The GAO concluded that the
Department’s Enforcement Program
appeared to be a good mechanism for
increasing contractor awareness of, and
accountability for, nuclear safety require-
ments.  The GAO report also contained
several conclusions regarding the Office
of Environment, Safety and Health’s Office
of Enforcement and Investigation (EH-
Enforcement). The report stated that EH-
Enforcement (1) provided relatively
independent review and oversight of
contractor operations; (2) designed a
process to ensure that results of investiga-
tions are objective and fact based; (3)
required the contractor to implement its
commitments for corrective actions before
EH-Enforcement allows a noncompliance
report to be closed; and (4) posted
enforcement action details on the Internet
so the contractor community and others
would be aware of the types of problems
that the Department considers to be
significant.

GAO issued the following recommenda-
tions to strengthen the Department’s
nuclear safety Enforcement Program.

❏ Ensure that DOE field locations are
properly following the Department’s
guidance in determining which
facilities must comply with the nuclear
safety rule on quality assurance.

❏ Eliminate the statutory exemption from

   4. ACCOMPLISHMENTS

paying civil penalties for violations of
nuclear safety rules for nonprofit
educational institutions.

❏ Expeditiously complete the process of
issuing enforceable rules covering
important nuclear safety requirements.

EH-Enforcement responded to the first
recommendation by issuing Enforcement
Guidance Supplement (EGS) 99-01,
Enforcement of 10 CFR Part 830.120
(Quality Assurance Rule) for Facilities
Below Hazard Category III.  The purpose
of this EGS is to ensure that there is a clear
message in the DOE complex that the
Quality Assurance Rule applies to all
facilities and activities not expressly
exempted by the rule.  With respect to the
second issue, EH-Enforcement does not
have the authority to institute a change
with regard to eliminating the civil penalty
exemption for nonprofit educational
institutions absent a statutory change.  This
issue is under review by the DOE Office of
General Counsel.  With respect to the third
issue, the process of issuing the balance
of the nuclear safety rules is an ongoing
action that is being developed elsewhere
in the Department.

Compliance Orders
Under 10 CFR 820, subpart C, “Compliance
Orders,” the Secretary of Energy is
authorized to issue Compliance Orders to
DOE contractors to identify a violation of a
nuclear safety requirement and mandate a
remedy.  A Compliance Order is issued
when, at the Secretary’s discretion, it is
necessary to resolve immediate and
egregious safety problems.

In May 1999, the Secretary issued the
Department’s first Compliance Order to
Fluor-Daniel Hanford (FDH), integrating
contractor at the Hanford site.  The
Compliance Order required FDH to
implement corrective actions within a
specified schedule.  Chapter 2 of this
report contains additional information
about this action.

Engaging Field and
Program Office Staff in
the Price-Anderson Process
In the last few years, the Enforcement
Program has made substantial strides in
fulfilling its promise to ensure enhanced
nuclear safety in the DOE complex.   This
is largely because of the cooperative
effort between Field Office/Program
Office personnel and EH-Enforcement
personnel.  The strong interactive effort
between departmental elements and EH-
Enforcement allows the Enforcement
Program to function in an effective manner
without the burden and cost of an
extensive inspection team and in a manner
that enhances management of contractor
activities.

Some Field Offices are more involved in
the enforcement process than others.
Therefore, EH-Enforcement developed
criteria to summarize the characteristics of
Field Office involvement in supporting the
Enforcement Program.  Ratings of “Good,”
“Medium,” and “Poor” were used to
illustrate the varied levels of involvement.
These criteria may be used by individual
offices to self-evaluate performance and
better structure a supportive arrangement.
The criteria for each of these ratings are
described in Table 4-1.

DOE contractors as a whole have taken an
aggressive and effective approach to
promote consistency and professionalism
within the Contractor PAAA Coordinator
program.  The Energy Facility Contractors
Group (EFCOG), a self-directed group of
contractors, established a Price-Anderson
Amendments Act (PAAA) Workgroup that
meets to exchange information of
common interest and of lessons learned to
the Contractor PAAA Coordinators.  The
EFGOC often requests input from EH-
Enforcement on Enforcement Program
priorities and other PAAA issues that may
be of importance to the contractor
community to provide to its members at
its workshops.
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Accomplishments

“Good” Rating
❏ PAAA Coordinator is qualified and

knowledgeable of Enforcement
Policy and processes, has a good
general knowledge of nuclear safety
requirements, and has a demon-
strated supportive senior manage-
ment.

❏ Field element is proactive, has a
questioning attitude regarding issues
and their significance, and uses
enforcement as an integral part of an
overall safety management program.

❏ PAAA Coordinator demonstrates
knowledge of thresholds for
reporting regarding programmatic
issues, negative trends, precursor
events, and repetitive violations.

❏ Field Office personnel are objective
in evaluating the safety significance
of violations.

❏ PAAA Coordinator and his/her
management routinely engage in
open and candid communication
with EH-Enforcement.

❏ Field Office personnel support and
participate in investigations, reviews,
and inquiries related to potential
noncompliances and PAAA program
weaknesses.

❏ Field Office management encour-
ages rigorous review of underlying
causes and comprehensive correc-
tive actions by the contractor and
performs timely confirmation of
corrective action completion and
verification of effectiveness.

❏ Few violations are disclosed by
events, with most being identified
through contractor self-assessment
or Department oversight.

Table 4-1

“Medium” Rating
❏ PAAA Coordinator has basic knowl-

edge of enforcement policy and
process.  Senior management emphasis
is limited, but generally supports the
Enforcement Program, when address-
ing event driven violations.

❏ Field element generally reacts only to
events and does not analyze issues
with respect to negative and program-
matic trends, precursor events and
repetitive violations.

❏ Field Office management views
regulatory enforcement as primarily the
responsibility of EH-Enforcement.

❏ Field Office personnel generally
support reporting the most significant
issues but are not aggressive in
challenging the contractor’s failure to
report other issues that are above the
Noncompliance Tracking System (NTS)
reporting threshold.

❏ Evaluation of safety significance tends
to focus on actual consequences,
without assessment of potential
consequences, but for fortuitous
circumstances.

❏ Field Office is generally not engaged in
fostering aggressive root cause analysis
and conducts minimal assessment of
completion of corrective actions or
their effectiveness.

❏ Contact with EH-Enforcement staff is
generally initiated by enforcement staff
personnel.

❏ PAAA Coordinator generally does not
participate in investigations or in
review of potential noncompliances or
PAAA program weaknesses, but will
provide coordination support when
asked.

❏ Most reported noncompliances are
event driven.

“Poor” Rating
❏ PAAA Coordinator has minimal

understanding of policy and
process and/or lacks any meaningful
field management support to carry
out his/her function as a Coordina-
tor.

❏ Once engaged in an issue, the
PAAA Coordinator is generally
defensive of the contractor’s
actions.

❏ The PAAA Coordinator demon-
strates little to no initiative to
evaluate or report negative trends,
programmatic or precursor issues.

❏ Significant violations generally go
unreported.

❏ Field Office management does not
identify or encourage reporting of
event driven violations.

❏ Contact with EH-Enforcement staff
is primarily at enforcement staff’s
initiative, and Field Office staff
generally is defensive of
contractor’s actions despite facts of
the case.

❏ Field Office management views
regulatory enforcement primarily as
the responsibility of EH-Enforce-
ment and views enforcement as
counter to other contractor
oversight initiatives, and thus
attempts to avoid any enforcement
action.

❏ PAAA Coordinator provides little or
no support for investigations or
review of potential noncompliance
or program weakness.

❏ Field Element conducts little to no
validation of implementation of
corrective actions or their effective-
ness.
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Enforcement Guidance
Supplements
In July 1999, EH-Enforcement issued two
EGSs to provide guidance for applying the
Enforcement Program to the Department
and its contractors.  The first is EGS 99-01,
Enforcement of 10 CFR 830.120 (Quality
Assurance Rule) for Facilities Below
Hazard Category III, issued July 1, 1999.
This EGS provides guidance for applying
the Quality Assurance Rule (10 CFR
830.120).

In the 18 months before issuing the
guidance document, EH-Enforcement
identified numerous instances in which
contractor organizations incorrectly
exempted activities from Quality Assur-
ance Rule applicability.  The contractors
made an assumption that a guidance
document developed for safety analysis
reporting, DOE Standard 1027-92, Hazard
Categorization and Accident Analysis
Techniques for Compliance with DOE
Order 5480.23, Nuclear Safety Analysis
Reports, was in some way relevant to
Price-Anderson enforcement.

The guidance document made clear that
the Quality Assurance Rule applies on a
graded approach basis to all Department
reactor and nonreactor nuclear facilities.
Nonreactor nuclear facilities are defined as
those that conduct activities or operations
that involve radioactive and/or fissionable
materials in such form and quantity that a
nuclear hazard potentially exists to the
employees or the general public.  The
Quality Assurance Rule includes those
activities related to design, manufacture,
and assembly of items for use with
radioactive materials in such form or
quantity that a nuclear hazard potentially
exists, even when no nuclear material is
present.  The rule does not specify any
minimum for such a hazard.

The Office of Enforcement and Investiga-
tions stated that it would defer enforce-
ment actions for issues that fall under the
scope of the EGS until January 1, 2000.
This action was taken to allow sufficient
time for contractors to modify processes

to ensure that they are in compliance with
the Quality Assurance Rule throughout
their sites.  The guidance document stated
that after January 1, 2000, any language in
Quality Assurance Implementation Plans or
in Quality Assurance Plans that attempts to
limit the scope of regulatory authority in
this area is null and void and will not
restrict potential enforcement action.

On July 16, 1999, EH-Enforcement issued
EGS 99-02, DOE Enforcement Activities of
Internal Dosimetry Program Requirements.
This EGS clarified internal dosimetry
program requirements identified in the
Quality Assurance Rule and the Occupa-
tional Radiation Protection Rule (10 CFR
835).  To develop the guidance docu-
ment, EH-Enforcement convened a
working group of Field Office personnel
and representatives from the Office of
Worker Protection Programs and Hazards
Management, which is the office respon-
sible for the content and technical
clarifications of 10 CFR 835.

The July 16, 1999, guidance document
provided information on the following
topics:

1. determination of prospective employ-
ees who are “likely to receive” an
exposure of 100 millirem or greater per
10 CFR 835.402

2. application of Enforcement Policy in
taking credit for respiratory protection
in prospective determinations

3.  use of contractor policies regarding
personnel internal exposure to
radioactive material

4.  as low as reasonably achievable
(ALARA) programs

5.  clarification of enforcement regarding
internal dosimetry programs

For purposes of enforcement, DOE is
primarily concerned with the program-
matic implications of repetitive and long-
term bioassay program problems that have
not been corrected by the contractor.

Both guidance documents (EGS 99-01
and EGS 99-02) are provided in Appendix

B.  See that appendix for the entire EH-
Enforcement discussion and guidance on
these issues.

PAAA Program Reviews
During 1999, EH-Enforcement conducted
PAAA screening and reporting process
reviews at the Sandia National Laboratory,
Waste Isolation Pilot Project (WIPP), Pantex
Plant, Argonne National Laboratory – East,
Argonne National Laboratory – West,
Fernald, and Mound.  These reviews
included a look at each contractor’s
processes for identifying, screening, and
reporting potential violations of nuclear
safety requirements and for managing
corrective actions for the identified
noncompliances.  EH-Enforcement
provided each contractor with a Program
Review Letter detailing observations,
including any weaknesses identified by
the review team.

Additionally, in the course of these
reviews, the DOE review team evaluated
particular events or problems that were
not reported to DOE via the Noncompli-
ance Tracking System (NTS) or were
reported, but lacked an adequate
description of the event.  In some cases,
DOE identified more significant compli-
ance problems. This finding resulted in an
Enforcement Letter to warn of the
problems and, in some cases, led to DOE
enforcement action.  The Pantex, Sandia,
and Argonne National Laboratory-East
reviews evolved into investigations that
led to Notices of Violations (NOV).  In
addition, the contractor at Pantex received
a civil penalty.

DOE intends to continue conducting such
reviews in the coming fiscal year.  Program
Reviews give DOE better insight into
contractor understanding and initiative in
nuclear safety management.  They also
better calibrate contractors to the
Department’s expectations and allow the
Department to take enforcement action for
potentially significant problems that were
not properly identified or reported.

Accomplishments
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Training
In December 1999, EH-Enforcement held
a two-day training course for DOE PAAA
Coordinators.  The course provided
information on enforcement techniques,
program changes, compliance expecta-
tions, noncompliance case reviews,
reporting issues, and communication and
coordination between Department
agencies, as well as on legal issues.  In
addition, EH-Enforcement held a half-day
introductory course for newly appointed
DOE PAAA Coordinators.  This course
focused on the background of the
Enforcement Program; the nuclear safety
rules; the enforcement process, expecta-
tions, and responsibilities of Coordinators;
and procedures for using the NTS.

Awards
In 1996 the Department established the
Price-Anderson Coordinator of the Year
Award to recognize individual Depart-
ment PAAA Coordinators for leadership
and contributions to the Enforcement
Program.  Awards have been made each
year since then.  In 1999, Brian Fiscus of
the Richland Operations Office and
Bradley Eichorst of the Albuquerque
Operations Office received the award.
Mr. Fiscus had also been honored in 1996
for his achievements as a DOE PAAA
Coordinator.

NTS System Upgrades and Changes
EH-Enforcement added a report to the
NTS in 1999 that lists overdue corrective
actions by NTS report. This change was
made to enhance the ability of authorized
NTS users to manage corrective actions
and easily identify overdue actions.  EH-
Enforcement also changed its processes
to require that contractors cited for
violations report corrective actions into
the NTS. In the past, EH-Enforcement
allowed contractors to submit corrective
actions via paper reports.  This change
enhances the ability of both the contractor
and Field Office personnel to better
manage corrective actions in response to
NOVs.

Web-Site Enhancements
The Department maintains an Internet Web
Site to provide information to Federal and
contractor communities and to the general
public.1  Relevant Federal regulations,
standards, Office of General Counsel
interpretations, program operating
procedures, NOVs, Enforcement Letters,
Press Releases, the most recently pub-
lished Annual Report, and workshop
information are available on the Web Site.
This year EH-Enforcement added a link to
allow users to view the Program Review
Letters.

Major Fraud Act and
Disallowed Costs
Contractor legal defense costs incurred in
connection with a criminal, civil, or
administrative proceeding involving
contractor violation of or noncompliance
with a Federal regulation are subject to the
reimbursement costs limitations of the
Major Fraud Act of 1988, Pub. L. 100-700
(see 41 U.S.C. 256 (k)).  See also 48 CFR
Sec. 31.205-47 and 970.5204.61.  The
Major Fraud Act defines “proceeding” as
“including an investigation.”  Accordingly,
the initiation of a nuclear safety enforce-
ment investigation by the Department
commences a proceeding for purposes of
Major Fraud Act applicability.  Once a
contractor receives notice that EH-
Enforcement has begun an investigation,
the contractor should begin segregating
and tracking costs incurred in connection
with the investigation.

In 1999, EH-Enforcement initiated a
process to formally inform contractors that
it has begun an enforcement investigation.
Under this process, the EH-Enforcement
staff member assigned to lead the
investigation informs the contractor PAAA
Coordinator in writing that an enforcement
investigation has begun or will begin and
specifies the date of commencement of
the investigation.

1 The Internet address for the EH-Enforcement Web Site is http://tis.eh.doe.gov/enforce.

Accomplishments

Enforcement Activity

Cases Considered/Closed
In 1999, EH-Enforcement reviewed 846
issues for potential noncompliance with
nuclear safety requirements.  This number
included 229 noncompliance reports filed
by contractors as NTS reports and 617
issues that came to the attention of EH-
Enforcement from other sources such as
assessment reports or Defense Nuclear
Facilities staff reports.  Figure 4-1 illustrates
the number of issues reviewed by EH-
Enforcement, sorted by NTS reports and
non-NTS reports.  Additionally, EH-
Enforcement closed a total of 151 NTS
reports.  This number included NTS
reports that had been reported in prior
years, but remained open until all the
corrective actions associated with the
reports were implemented.

EH-Enforcement’s reviews of the NTS
reports and other sources of potential
noncompliances focused on the safety
significance of the issues, as well as the
degree to which the contractor demon-
strated aggressive self-identification,
reporting, and corrective action.   The vast
majority of issues (over 90 percent) are
closed without an enforcement action,
due to proper actions on the part of the
contractor in self-identification, reporting,
and correction, or due to the low safety
significance of the issue.  If the Depart-
ment was not satisfied that appropriate
actions had been taken and it determined
that the safety significance of the issue
warranted further investigation, it con-
ducted a more comprehensive review.

The increase in the number of NTS reports
in 1999 (229) as compared to 170 in 1998
is considered to reflect a combination of
more open reporting on the part of certain
contractors and a better understanding of
DOE’s reporting expectations for certain
other contractors.  It is not believed to
represent a weakened compliance
problem in the DOE complex.
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Accomplishments

Notices of Violation
EH-Enforcement initiated formal enforce-
ment action in ten cases where the actual
or potential safety consequences were
sufficiently serious to warrant action.   In
these cases, the Department issued NOVs
to clearly communicate DOE’s expecta-
tions and to document significant
violations of nuclear safety requirements.
DOE transmitted the NOVs via letters that

EA No. Contractor Type Sev Lev Date Issued CP Amount

EA-1999-01 IT PNOV III 02/26/99 N/A

EA-1999-02 BSA PNOV II,III 04/15/99 $27,500

EA-1999-03 SNL PNOV III 05/21/99 N/A

EA-1999-04 FDH CPO
PNOV I, II 05/26/99 $330,000

EA-1999-05 M&H PNOV II 07/30/99 $82,500
FNOV 09/22/99

EA-1999-06 KHLL PNOV II 08/18/99 $82,500

EA-1999-07 LMITCO PNOV II, III 08/18/99 $220,000
FNOV 10/08/99

EA-1999-08 LANL PNOV II 09/03/99 $220,000
(waived)

EA-1999-09 WVNS PNOV III 12/07/99 N/A

EA-1999-10 ANL-E PNOV III 12/14/99 $110,000
(waived)

Table 4-2

included a strong message about the
Department’s expectations for contractors
to correct behaviors and practices that led
to the violations and to aggressively focus
on a culture that self-identifies and
corrects problems before they result in
serious conditions.  Seven of the NOVs
carried civil penalties totaling $1,072,500.
Table 4-2 summarizes the enforcement
actions issued in 1999.
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Introduction

The Department of Energy’s (DOE)
experience in the first 4 years of applying
the Enforcement Program, as well as
experience gained from many enforce-
ment actions, has led to some important
lessons learned.  As in prior years, DOE
continually reviewed its Enforcement
Program and in 1999 instituted changes as
noted in Chapter 4 to improve its
effectiveness.  The principal areas where
changes and improvements in the
Enforcement Program are planned for
2000 are discussed in this chapter.

Enforcement Guidance
Supplements Followup in
PAAA Program Reviews

DOE issued two Enforcement Guidance
Supplements (EGS) in 1999, as discussed
in Chapter 4, “Accomplishments.”  The
two EGSs dealt with contractor failures to
properly implement the requirements of
DOE’s nuclear safety rules and identified
the approach that EH-Enforcement would
take in these matters.  EGS 99-01,
Enforcement of 10 CFR 830.120 (Quality
Assurance Rule) for Facilities Below
Hazard Category III, pertained to failures
by some contractors to apply the
requirements of the Quality Assurance
Rule (Part 830.120) to the full set of
nuclear facilities as defined in the rule and
confirmed by Office of General Counsel
interpretation 1995-1.  EGS 99-02, DOE
Enforcement Activities of Internal
Dosimetry Program Requirements,
addressed problems found in contractor
bioassay programs and DOE’s expecta-
tions for contractors to evaluate their
programs for such problems and promptly
correct noncompliances.

DOE intends to follow up on contractor
activities and compliance in these areas as
part of ongoing Office of Environment,
Safety and Health, Office of Enforcement
and Investigation (EH-Enforcement)

  5. CHANGES AND IMPROVEMENTS

activities.  In the course of performing
investigations of other matters or perform-
ing routine Price-Anderson Amendments
Act (PAAA) Program Reviews, EH-
Enforcement personnel will also review
contractor actions in response to these
EGS guidelines.

As noted in Chapter 4, DOE conducted
seven PAAA Program Reviews in 1999 and
intends to continue this program.  Over
the next 18 months, DOE expects to
conduct PAAA Program Reviews of all
other contractors who manage or operate
nuclear or radiological facilities.

DOE will continue to apply a graded
approach to enforcement.  However, it
will consider enforcement action when
significant problems related to issues that
were EGS topics are found.  DOE will also
consider enforcement escalation if the
contractor has not taken aggressive and
comprehensive action in response to
these notifications.

Continued Focus on
Procurement and
Vendor Quality

Last year’s annual report noted that EH-
Enforcement identified problems
involving contractor violations of Quality
Assurance Rule procurement require-
ments.  Several major areas of concern
were identified, including (1) prime
contractors failing to adequately qualify
subcontractors for safety-related work; (2)
contractors failing to follow their own
procedures for establishing an approved
suppliers list and for procuring critical
materials from such vendors; and (3)
contractors failing to adequately ensure
that services and items procured will
perform their intended safety function.
These deficiencies resulted in failures of
safety components while in service, as
well as in the fabrication of safety-related
components and systems that do not
meet design specifications.

Adequate control and oversight of the
procurement of services and items that
involve the safety-related aspects of
nuclear facilities and their components is
very important to ensuring the overall
safety of the nuclear facility, the safety of
workers, and the protection of the public.
Defective components or inadequate
services may be difficult to detect once
they are placed into service or when work
is completed.  During 1999, EH-Enforce-
ment placed emphasis on investigating
problems with contractor processes for
procurement of safety-related services
and items and continued to find signifi-
cant weaknesses in this area.  Because
these problems continue to surface, EH-
Enforcement will continue to pursue cases
where it appears that significant procure-
ment lapses have occurred that may lead
to adverse events or equipment failures.
Additionally, during routine PAAA Program
Reviews, EH-Enforcement will review
contractor implementation activities in this
area and will initiate enforcement action
when substantial problems are found.  The
Department intends this increased
emphasis to encourage contractors to
place more focus on proactively self-
identifying problems in this area and on
correcting them before adverse conse-
quences occur.

Improved Field Office
Involvement

DOE’s Enforcement Program is founded on
an approach that makes maximum use of
existing resources and programs, and Field
Office involvement and support are an
integral part of this approach.  Field Office
personnel are most aware of conditions
that represent potentially significant
noncompliances, are most capable of
judging corrective action adequacy, and
are the most efficient in confirming that
corrective actions have been completed.
EH-Enforcement has no direct authority
over the Field Offices.  Thus, we have
structured an arrangement based on
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professional cooperation, rather than
management authority, to obtain the
support and involvement of individual
Field Offices.

EH-Enforcement provided each Field
Office with an opportunity to designate a
DOE PAAA Coordinator as the point of
contact on PAAA issues for both EH-
Enforcement staff and DOE contractors.
Since implementing the Enforcement
Program several years ago, EH-Enforce-
ment has experienced substantial variation
in program involvement among Field
Offices.  This variation appears to be
related both to differences in the
perceived role of the Field Office when
interacting with the contractor on PAAA
issues and to divergence among Field
Office managers on the extent of desired
involvement in the Enforcement Program.
These differing perceptions manifest in
differences in the level of active involve-
ment among Field Offices in identifying
noncompliances, participating with EH-
Enforcement in conducting investigations,
and confirming proper completion of
corrective actions by contractors.

Although EH-Enforcement has noted
marked improvement over the past few
years, some Field Offices are less engaged
in supporting the program or in uncover-
ing compliance problems that may be
candidates for enforcement review.  In a
few cases, offices that may have been
more supportive in the past appear to
have lapsed into a less supportive
approach to the program.  DOE has
implemented several initiatives to provide
more uniform cooperation.  These
initiatives include the following.

❏ Annual PAAA Coordinator Training
Workshops for the Field and
Program Offices.  The most recent
training workshop was conducted in
December 1999.  The workshop
focused on sharing information about
various enforcement cases that
occurred in the past year.  DOE also
solicited input from a senior manager
in one of DOE’s Field Offices to
provide his perspective on the PAAA
program, the benefits from this

regulatory program, and suggested
improvements in the program

❏ Continued Communication.  Empha-
sis continued to be placed on
communication between senior EH
management and individual Field
Office management to better establish
working relationships, increase the
understanding of roles, and develop
strategies for focusing on particular
contractor problem areas.

❏ PAAA Program Reviews.  These
reviews were conducted at sites at
which it appeared that EH-Enforce-
ment did not have the full support and
cooperation from a particular Field
Office.  The results of these reviews
were positive in identifying significant
compliance issues and correcting
contractor and local DOE misunder-
standing about compliance issues and
expectations on reporting, as well as
with regard to the value of discretely
using the enforcement tool.

EH-Enforcement will continue the above
initiatives in 2000.  The expanded focus of
PAAA Program Reviews and the plans to
cover all sites in such reviews over the
next 18 months are discussed above and
in Chapter 4 of this report.

Increased Contractor
Initiative in Identification
and Reporting

As reported in prior annual reports, DOE
observed that some contractors were less
ambitious in identifying PAAA
noncompliances and reporting them.
Additionally, it appeared that in the latter
part of 1998, certain contractors had
chosen to stop reporting these
noncompliances, apparently believing that
DOE would be unable to pursue cases
that were not reported into the Noncom-
pliance Tracking System (NTS).  These
contractors failed to realize that most of
DOE’s enforcement actions involved
problems that had been uncovered by
DOE or had been disclosed by an event

about which all parties were aware.  In
most cases, DOE has not taken enforce-
ment action when the problem was
identified by a contractor initiative such as
a self-assessment.  Generally, the excep-
tions are problems that were identified by
contractor initiative but were so significant
that DOE would be remiss in its responsi-
bilities if it failed to take action.  In these
cases the civil penalty is generally
substantially reduced based upon the
contractor’s initiative.  This approach is
consistent with the safety philosophy that
DOE communicated in the Enforcement
Policy (Appendix A to 10 CFR Part 820).
EH-Enforcement noted that in 1999, as the
year progressed, the level of NTS report-
ing by contractors improved due in part
to their response to DOE PAAA Program
Review efforts.

DOE will continue to focus special
attention on contractors that do not
display a high degree of being proactive
in identifying and reporting
noncompliances.  An effort will be made
to determine whether these contractors
are, in fact, demonstrating a high level of
compliance and safety performance or
whether they are avoiding their responsi-
bility for aggressively identifying
noncompliances and improving the safety
of operations.  In these cases, DOE will
also consider a special site visit to the
contractor’s facility to conduct a PAAA
Program Review.  DOE conducted seven
PAAA Program Reviews in 1999 and will
prioritize the conduct of subsequent
reviews in 2000 based in part on contrac-
tor performance in self-reporting.

Table 5-1 summarizes the NTS reports
prepared by the major DOE contractors in
1999.  These “major contractors” are direct
managing and operating (M&O) or
managing and integrating (M&I) contrac-
tors responsible for nuclear facilities.
Some of these contractors manage large,
complex sites with many nuclear facilities;
others manage smaller sites or sites with
few nuclear facilities or radiological
activities, some of which are research
laboratories facilities where it may be
reasonable for fewer NTS reports to be
input into the system.  However, larger

Changes and Improvements
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sites with many nuclear facilities or
radiological hazards would be expected
to input multiple NTS reports if the
contractor is aggressively identifying,
reporting, and fixing problems.  Thus a
relatively large number of NTS reports by a
particular contractor may be indicative of
positive contractor initiatives.  Accord-
ingly, a direct comparison across all
contractors is not appropriate; however,
the table does show the wide variation in
contractor use of the NTS.  Contractors
with low reporting into NTS that are
performing activities with nuclear safety
implications will receive special attention
from EH-Enforcement.

Employee Concerns Issues

The DOE and the Department of Labor
(DOL) share responsibilities in the area of
employee protection.  Section 211 of the
Energy Reorganization Act provides that
no employer may discriminate against any
employee with respect to compensation,
conditions, or privileges of employment
because the employee engaged in certain
protected activities.  These protected
activities include notifying an employer or
government official of an alleged nuclear
safety concern and other safety concerns.
The DOL is responsible for investigating
employee complaints of discrimination
under Section 211.  After an investigation
and hearing, DOL may (1) order a violator
to take affirmative action to abate the
violation, (2) reinstate the complainant to
his or her former position with back pay,
and (3) award compensatory damages,
including attorney fees.

DOE has promulgated regulations to
prohibit discrimination for raising
concerns and for providing a personal
remedy to an employee who suffered
discrimination (reference 10 CFR 708).  The
DOE Office of Hearings and Appeals
investigates and processes 10 CFR 708
complaints of retaliation filed by DOE
contractor employees.  The prohibition
against retaliation for raising nuclear safety
concerns is designated as a nuclear safety
rule because such action by contractors
may adversely impact safety.  Thus, the

Number of 1999
Contractor NTS Reports

Ames Laboratory 1

Argonne National Laboratory-East 13

Argonne National Laboratory-West 2

Bechtel BWXT Idaho 4

Bechtel-Hanford 4

Bechtel-Jacobs Company 6

BNFL, Inc 4

Brookhaven National Laboratory 7

Bechtel-Nevada Operations Office 4

Babcock & Wilcox of Ohio 5

Flour-Daniel Fernald 8

Fermi National Acceleration Lab 1

Flour Daniel Hanford (Project Hanford) 33

IT Corp. Las Vegas 5

Kaiser-Hill 27

Los Alamos National Laboratory 16

Lawrence Berkley Laboratory 1

Lockheed-Martin Idaho 8

Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory 11

Lockheed-Martin Energy Systems 10

Lockheed-Martin Hanford 2

Mason-Hanger Pantex 10

Oak Ridge National Laboratory 4

Pacific Northwest National Laboratory 6

Sandia National Laboratory 8

Westinghouse Electric Company 3

Westinghouse Savannah River 16

Table 5-1

Changes and Improvements

NTS Reports through December 31, 1999, for DOE’s principal (Management and
Operating, Management and Integrating) contractors.  Subcontracts may file
reports through their respective contractor, who has responsibility for oversight
and subcontractor activities.  A larger number of NTS reports by a contractor does
not correlate to a poor performer, but could be indicative of a more aggressive
compliance determination program.
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DOE Enforcement Program has authority to
take enforcement action against a
contractor that violates this prohibition.

In egregious cases EH-Enforcement may
independently conduct an investigation
into matters of alleged retaliation for
raising nuclear safety concerns.  Such
investigations may result in an enforce-
ment action.  An enforcement action may
include citing and fining a contractor for
retaliating against an employee for raising a
nuclear safety concern.

Although each Federal agency carries out
its statutory responsibilities indepen-
dently, administrative efficiency and
sound enforcement policies can be
maximized by cooperation and the timely
exchange of information in areas of mutual
interest.  Consequently, DOE and DOL are
negotiating a formal Memorandum of
Understanding to facilitate coordination
and cooperation in these cases.  Once
this agreement is in effect DOE and DOL
will share information.  EH-Enforcement
may hold an Enforcement Conference with
the contractor based upon DOL findings
of fact to provide the contractor with an

opportunity to present its views.  DOE
would then determine whether to initiate
enforcement action against the contractor
for a violation or violations of 10 CFR 708.

Increased Focus on
Compliance Issues
By the Office of Oversight

The 1999 Government Accounting Office
(GAO) Report on DOE’s Enforcement
Program, as noted in Chapter 2, recom-
mended a general strengthening in the
DOE Enforcement Program.  Rather than
hiring a large staff of inspectors as part of
the DOE Enforcement Program, the
Department chose to provide a stronger
linkage of the existing activities of the
Office of Independent Oversight with
those of EH-Enforcement.  The general
plan is to have the Office of Oversight
provide a more direct factual input to EH-
Enforcement on regulatory compliance
matters.   While the primary role of the
Office of Independent Oversight is to
assess the performance of Field Offices in
their management of contractors, that role
permits them to gain knowledge of

contractor activities as well.  Some steps
have already been taken to achieve
benefits from this strengthened interface.

The Office of Oversight has designated
personnel to develop and maintain skills
on PAAA matters. They will coordinate the
efforts of that Office in supporting DOE’s
enforcement mandate.  To undertake that
role, the individuals designated as having
PAAA responsibilities for the Office of
Oversight attended the November 30
through December 2, 1999, DOE PAAA
Coordinator Training Workshop.  The
scope of the Workshop is discussed in
Chapter 4.

EH-Enforcement generally has relied on its
review of documents developed in the
ordinary course of business or on input
from DOE Field Office personnel to
identify particular cases for enforcement
review.  In some circumstances the Office
of Oversight may be able to provide EH-
Enforcement with a unique perspective
on recent performance by the contractor.
This information is particularly true where
DOE Field Offices lack a fully effective
PAAA Coordinator program.

Changes and Improvements
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  ACRONYMS

ALARA as low as reasonably achievable

ANL–West Argonne National Laboratory – West

BNL Brookhaven National Laboratory

BSA Brookhaven Science Associates

CMR Chemistry and Metallurgy Research

DNFSB Defense Nuclear Facility Safety Board

DOE Department of Energy

DOL Department of Labor

EFCOG Energy Facility Contractors Group

EGS Enforcement Guidance Supplement

EH Office of Environment, Safety and Health

EH-Enforcement Office of Enforcement and Investigation

FDH Fluor Daniel Hanford Inc.

GAO General Accounting Office

INEEL Idaho National Engineering and Environmental Laboratory

KHLL Kaiser-Hill Company

LMITCO Lockheed Martin Idaho Technologies Company

LANL Los Alamos National Laboratory

MHC Mason & Hanger Corporation

NTS Noncompliance Tracking System

NOV Notices of Violation

ORPS Occurrence Reporting and Processing System

PAAA Price-Anderson Amendments Act

RTF Radiation Therapy Facility

RFETS Rocky Flats Environmental Technology Site

SNL Sandia National Laboratories

SNFP Spent Nuclear Fuels Project

SWB Standard Waste Box

SBUH Stony Brook University Hospital

WIPP Waste Isolation Pilot Project
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Introduction

This section provides an overview of the
Department of Energy (DOE) Enforcement
Program for those readers who may not be
familiar with the overall process.  Further
details on the process may be obtained
from the DOE Enforcement Program
procedures referred to within this section
or by logging onto the Office of Enforce-
ment and Investigation Web Site at http://
tis.eh.doe.gov/enforce/

Background

DOE has implemented a congressionally
mandated mechanism to apply sanctions
to its contractors for unsafe actions or
conditions that violate nuclear safety
requirements for protecting workers and
the public.  The Department provides
positive incentives for contractors to strive
for an enhanced nuclear safety culture
through attention to compliance with
requirements and self-identification of
problems and by reporting
noncompliances to DOE and initiating
timely and effective corrective actions.
The Price-Anderson Amendments Act
(PAAA) Enforcement Program is part of
DOE’s overall Safety Management Program,
which focuses on line management
responsibility for safety, comprehensive
requirements, competence commensurate
with responsibilities, and independent
oversight and enforcement.1

The 1988 Price-Anderson Amendments
Act2 extended indemnification to DOE
operating contractors for the conse-
quences of a nuclear incident.  At the

  APPENDIX A - OVERVIEW

same time, Congress required DOE to
begin undertaking enforcement actions
against those contractors that violate
nuclear safety rules.  The PAAA, in effect,
required DOE to establish an internal self-
regulatory process.

DOE’s regulatory basis for its Enforcement
Program is published in 10 CFR Part 820,
Procedural Rules for DOE Nuclear
Activities.   Enforcement actions may
include issuance of Notices of Violation
(NOV) and, where appropriate civil
monetary penalties.

Such enforcement actions require the
formal promulgation of rules in accor-
dance with the Administrative Procedure
Act, including adequate procedures for
public notice and comment.  To date, two
substantive rules have become enforce-
able as final rules—Quality Assurance
Requirements and Occupational Radiation
Protection.3  Additionally, DOE rules on
“Contractor Employee Protection and
Accuracy of Information” 4 have been
identified as nuclear safety requirements
that are also enforceable.

During late 1994 and in 1995, the Depart-
ment focused on (1) developing the
Enforcement Program infrastructure, (2)
providing training for contractor and DOE
PAAA Coordinators, and (3) issuing the
formal procedures needed to implement
the Enforcement Program.  DOE’s first
enforcement action was the issuance of an
NOV in April 1996.5  Since then DOE has
routinely applied its Enforcement Program
by issuing Program Review Letters,
Enforcement Letters, and NOVs and by
imposing civil penalties.

Administration

The Department’s Enforcement Program is
administered by the relatively small staff in
the Office of Environment, Safety and
Health, Office of Enforcement and
Investigation (EH-Enforcement) at DOE
Headquarters, linked with PAAA Coordi-
nators in Field and Program Offices, and
supported by technical experts from both
Headquarters and field elements.  The
program is structured to use existing
resources and relies on independent
judgments by EH-Enforcement personnel
on matters of compliance, safety signifi-
cance, corrective actions, and enforce-
ment actions.

The EH-Enforcement staff includes the
Director, 6 full-time enforcement person-
nel, a Docket Clerk and an administrative
assistant; 2 contractor technical experts;
and over 50 Field and Program Office
Coordinators, assisted by numerous other
DOE technical specialists.  Figure A-1
illustrates the DOE enforcement organiza-
tion network.

Noncompliance
Identification and Reporting

DOE expects contractors to implement
appropriate steps to ensure that their
activities comply with nuclear safety
requirements.  DOE also expects contrac-
tors to self-identify noncompliances.
Contractors are permitted to track and
close noncompliances below the
Department’s reporting threshold using
their own, internal tracking system.  These
noncompliances are subject to periodic

1 Safety Management Pprinciples from October 1994 DOE letter to the DNFSB.

2 42 U.S.C. 228a.

3 10 CFR Part 830.120 and 10 CFR Part 835, respectively.

4 10 CFR Part 708 and 10 CFR Part 820.11, respectively.

5 EA 96-01.
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review and audit by Field Office Coordi-
nator personnel.  DOE expects that
noncompliances meeting the reporting
thresholds6 will be reported into the
Department’s Noncompliance Tracking
System (NTS).  Most cases are closed at
this stage without an investigation, based
on positive contractor initiative or low
safety significance and completion of
actions to correct the noncompliance
condition and prevent recurrence.

Noncompliances also may be identified
independently through DOE Field Office
input; Headquarters reviews; by the
Defense Nuclear Facility Safety Board
(DNFSB), DOE PAAA Coordinators, and
DOE Oversight; or through other reviews
conducted by EH-Enforcement staff.
Workers with noncompliance issues may
also directly contact EH-Enforcement staff
confidentially or contact the site DOE

PAAA Coordinator.  EH-Enforcement staff,
with input from Field and Program Office
management, decide which
noncompliances have the requisite level
of safety significance to warrant an
investigation.

An investigation usually involves review of
documentation from the contractor,
assistance from DOE Field Office person-
nel, and in some cases, onsite visits to
gather facts about the noncompliance,
conduct interviews, and understand
contractor actions in response to the
noncompliance.7  If, in the course of the
investigation, DOE concludes that the
contractor is not responsive to informal
requests for information, a Special Report
Order may be issued (under the authority
of 10 CFR 820.8) to obtain the required
information.  Failure to comply with such
an Order could result in enforcement

sanctions set forth in the rule.  DOE also is
empowered to issue subpoenas if
necessary to obtain required information.
Results of the investigation are docu-
mented in an Investigation Summary
Report, which is provided to the contrac-
tor.

Enforcement Decisions

The primary consideration in determining
whether to take enforcement action is the
actual or potential safety significance of a
violation coupled with a determination of
how aggressively the contractor identified,
reported, and corrected the problem.
The potential for mitigation of enforce-
ment actions in particular cases provides a
positive incentive for contractors to
implement the desired safety culture.

Appendix A - Overview

6 DOE’s reporting thresholds are contained in Operational Procedures, Identifying, Reporting and Tracking Nuclear Safety Noncompliances under
Price-Anderson Amendments Act of 1988.

7 Pursuant to 10 CFR Part 820, the Director, Office of Enforcement and Investigation, may obtain information or evidence for the full and complete
investigation of any matter related to a DOE nuclear activity, including classified, confidential, and controlled information.

Office of Enforcement and Investigation Organizational Structure
(Note:  Dotted lines show matrix support integration)

EH-1
Operations Offices/
Area Offices DOE 
PAAA Coordinators

Program Offices

Office of 
Enforcement and

Investigation Director 

Litigator Docket Clerk
Enforcement
Specialists (4)

Investigator

Figure A-1
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EH-Enforcement works closely with DOE
Field and Program Office management in
making decisions about what enforcement
actions are appropriate based on the
findings of the investigation.  If necessary,
an Enforcement Conference is held with
senior contractor management, along with
DOE Field and Program Office manage-
ment, to review the circumstances of the
noncompliance, the mitigating factors,
and the timeliness and adequacy of
corrective actions.  DOE classifies the
violation as either Severity Level I (most
significant, with actual or potential
significant consequences to workers or
the public), Severity Level II (significant
lack of attention or carelessness which
could lead to adverse impact to the
public or worker), or Severity Level III
(greater than minor significance), based
on an assessment of the unique facts of
each case.

Enforcement Process

DOE’s process and the regulatory authority
for enforcement actions are embodied in
a regulation (10 CFR 820, Procedural Rules
for DOE Nuclear Activities,), supple-
mented by the Enforcement Policy
(Appendix A to 10 CFR 820) and EH-
Enforcement procedures. Figure A-2
summarizes the enforcement process.

Following an investigation and, if required,
an Enforcement Conference, DOE may
pursue a path that includes any of the
following, based on the facts and
significance of the noncompliance.

❏ No further action
❏ Enforcement Letter8

❏ NOV with no civil penalty
❏ NOV with a civil penalty
❏ Consent Order

❏ Compliance Order
❏ Referral to the Department of Justice

for criminal investigation

Decisions concerning the severity level,
appropriate enforcement action, and
magnitude of any civil penalty will be
dependent on safety significance,
initiative by the contractor in identification
and reporting, and timeliness and
effectiveness of corrective actions.  With
appropriate identification, reporting, and
corrective actions by the contractor, the
Department can waive all or part of the
civil penalty and, in some cases, refrain
from further action entirely.  Civil penalties
are limited by statute to a maximum of
$110,000 per violation per day.9  Severity
Level I violations are set at 100 percent of
the statutory limit per violation per day
(i.e., $110,000).  Severity Level II violations
are set at 50 percent of the statutory limit
(i.e., $55,000) per violation per day, and
Severity Level III violations are set at 10
percent of the statutory limit (i.e.,
$11,000) per violation per day.10

The PAAA statute provides exemption of
specifically named DOE not-for-profit
entities from any liability for civil penalties;
and 10 CFR Part 820 extended this
exemption to all not-for-profit DOE
contractors that are education institutions.
However, DOE is authorized to issue
NOVs to all such not-for-profit contrac-
tors.  Additionally, certain activities are
excluded from DOE’s nuclear safety
requirements and from enforcement
action by DOE.  These activities include
those regulated by the Nuclear Regulatory
Commission or under the authority of the
Director, Naval Nuclear Propulsion
Program.  Activities conducted under the
Nuclear Explosives and Weapons Safety
Program are also excluded insofar as
compliance with nuclear safety rules may

Appendix A - Overview

have the effect of compromising nuclear
safety.  As stated by the Office of General
Counsel in Ruling 1995-1, 61 FR4209
(1966), this latter exemption is to be
extremely narrow.

In response to an NOV, contractors are
required to document specific actions
taken and planned to prevent recurrence
of similar events.  The contractor also
either admits the violations and pays any
civil penalty, if applicable, or denies the
violation and seeks redress through an
escalating series of steps set forth in the
rule.  Settlement can occur at any point in
the process.

Another vehicle authorized by the nuclear
safety procedural rules is the Consent
Order.  In 10 CFR 820.23, DOE is autho-
rized to issue Consent Orders in appropri-
ate cases.  A Consent Order is an agree-
ment signed by DOE that stipulates the (1)
conclusions of fact or law, (2) monetary
remedy to be paid by the contractor, and
(3) corrective actions to be taken by the
contractor.  DOE may choose to use such
an approach to resolve a case if the issue
was identified by the contractor and
reported in a timely way; has comprehen-
sive corrective actions; has received a
thorough and objective investigation by
the contractor; and, most importantly, if
the contractor has demonstrated a
consistent track record of such discovery
and response to compliance issues.

The Consent Order approach benefits the
contractor by avoiding the burden of
supporting a DOE investigation and has
the potential to involve lower penalties
than would have been experienced from
a full DOE investigation and enforcement
action.  If the contractor fails to comply
with the terms of the Consent Order, DOE
may proceed with a traditional enforce-
ment action.

8 An Enforcement Letter may be used when DOE concludes that a particular noncompliance is not of the level of significance warranted for issuance
of a Preliminary NOV, but it is an issue of concern to DOE.  The letter puts the contractor on notice that the problem needs to be corrected.   The
Enforcement Letter notifies the contractor that DOE will close the noncompliance report when verification is received that corrective actions have
been implemented.

9 On October 2, 1997, DOE amended its Part 820 to increase the maximum civil penalty from $100,000 to $110,000 per violation.  This increase was
accomplished in accordance with the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996.

10 On November 7, 1997, DOE amended its General Statement of Enforcement Policy to simplify the method by which these civil penalties are
calculated.  (The previous policy based a civil penalty on the type of nuclear facility where the violation occurred.)  Under the new policy civil
penalties are based solely on the safety significance of the violation.
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Another tool available to DOE is the
Compliance Order, issued pursuant to
DOE’s authority under subpart C of 10 CFR
820, sections 820.40 – 820.43.  A
Compliance Order is a Secretarial
directive requiring a contractor to take
certain specified actions to remedy a
problem or to come into compliance.
The actions in a Compliance Order are
nuclear safety requirements and as such
are enforceable under 10 CFR 820.  Failure
to meet the actions specified could lead
to issuance of an NOV with civil penalties,
if applicable.  Compliance Orders are
used when the following elements are
present:

❏ Conditions indicate problems of
substantial safety importance or broad
programmatic breakdown.

❏ A violation condition must be cor-
rected or prevented.

❏ Generally, but not solely, when a
contractor has had sufficient opportu-
nity to correct the condition but has
not acted promptly.

❏ DOE does not have confidence that
the contractor will correct the condi-
tion in a timely manner.

It is expected that the use of Compliance
Orders will be limited and that generally
they will be used in very serious cases
with the above attributes.

The contractor’s commitments on
corrective actions and schedules for
completion for any enforcement action
become part of the enforcement pro-
ceeding record.  Commitments on
corrective actions and their completion
schedule are entered into and tracked on
the NTS system.  Field Office personnel
verify completion of corrective actions
before a case is closed.

Information on a particular enforcement
proceeding is available to the public once
a Preliminary NOV (PNOV) is issued.  The
Docket Clerk maintains records at DOE
Headquarters.11

DOE’s approach to enforcement involves
some relatively innovative methods to
avoid human resource intensive inspection
forces and to better motivate contractor
ownership of compliance and safety.  This
approach is expected to result in a more
effective and efficient regulatory process
that, in conjunction with other elements of
the DOE Safety Management Program, will
improve the health and safety of the
public and workers engaged in DOE
activities.

Further guidance on DOE’s PAAA enforce-
ment process may be found in Opera-
tional Procedures for Enforcement,
Enforcement of DOE Nuclear Safety
Requirements Under Price Anderson
Amendments Act of 1988, June 1998.
Guidance is also found in 10 CFR Part 820,
Procedural Rules for DOE Nuclear
Activities (subpart B), and its Appendix A,
“General Statement of Enforcement
Policy.”

11 Office of the Docket Clerk, Office of Enforcement and Investigation (EH-10), Room 3041, 20030 Century Blvd., Germantown, MD 20874-1290; (301)
903-0112.
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